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The Lake Erie Cross 
THE STORY OF THE DOLLIER AISD GALINEE EXPEDITION 

FOR many years to come the mariners on Lake Erie who find themselves 
in the vicinity of Port Dover will see, as perhaps the most conspicuous 

feature of the lakeside landscape, a tall cross on a commanding site at the 
mouth of the River Lynn. There will be some who will understand its signifi­
cance. There will be many who will not, visitors and strangers, newcomers 
from foreign lands who have been attracted to Canada by the hopes of a larger, 
freer and more prosperous life; children of Canadian homes and schools who 
have not yet learned that Canada has a history in which are recorded thrilling 
and romantic stories of great deeds done and noble sacrifices made in order 
that a new nation might be founded and a new civilization planted on the broad 
and fertile lands of Canada. I t is for the many who do not know the story of 
the Dollier and Galinee expedition that this brief record of a brave and unsel­
fish enterprise is presented. 

The Story in Brief 

The substance of it may be put into a brief paragraph so that even he who 
runs or holds the wheel may read enough to understand at a glance the mean­
ing of the lakeside cross. More than two hundred and fifty years ago the Lake 
Erie region was one vast forest desolation. Occasional patches of undergrowth 
marked the sites of abandoned villages and corn fields, mute reminders of a 
vanished race. The well worn trails, skirting the lakes and lonely streams, or 
winding along the dividing ridges, were rarely trodden by the foot of man. 
From western New York, Seneca war parties may from time to time have passed 
through, on their way to attack their enemies in the far west, at the risk of 
encountering scalping parties of their foes, roving Andastes or Eries from south 
of the lake lying in wait to attack them. On the shores of Lake Superior and 
Lake Michigan, a few wretched survivors of the former inhabitants of southern 
Ontario still trembled at the name of their relentless and dreaded foe. Only the 
wild creatures of the wood, the bear, deer, turkey, raccoon, beaver, remained. The 
forest teemed with game. Seneca hunting bands threaded the forest trails in 
winter in pursuit of beaver. Southern Ontario had become, in name as well as 
in fact, the beaver hunting ground of the Iroquois. 

Such was the condition of the Lake Erie region when in 1669 two French 
priests named Dollier and Galinee set out from Montreal, in a fleet of seven 
canoes containing twenty-one men and two canoes of Seneca guides, with the 
object of carrying the message of the Christian religion to the savage tribes of 
the far southwest. Proceeding by way of the St. Lawrence, Lake Ontario, and 
the Grand River, after a journey of three months, during which they suffered 
great hardships and privation, they reached Lake Erie. They were enraptured 
with the country and described it as an earthly paradise. They erected a cross 
on the lakeside bearing the Arms of France and an inscription declaring that 
this unoccupied land was claimed by right of discovery for the King of France. 
They were the first Europeans to visit the Long Point region, and the first to 
sojourn on the shore of Lake Erie, so far as is known. For the winter they 
chose as a camping place a sheltered spot back from the lake, where they built 
a cabin and storehouse. 

Through the researches of the Norfolk Historical Society this wintering 
place has been identified. Close to Black Creek, above the forks of the River 
Lynn or Patterson's Creek, at Port Dover, remains of the building erected by 
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the priests still exist. Galinee wrote an interesting narrative of the journey— 
accompanied by a map—which has been translated into English by Dr. James 
H. Coyne, of St. Thomas. The present cross has been erected by the National 
Parks Branch of the Department of the Interior as a permanent memorial of 
the brave and intrepid missionaries and as a reminder to the present and coming 
generations of Canadian people that their history is as rich in interest and 
romance as that of the older nations of the world. 

The Mission to the Indians 

The story thus hurriedly sketched, we may now proceed with more leisurely 
steps to follow the movements of the priests from the inception of their mis­
sionary project to its rather disastrous termination. 

In his introduction to the Galinee narrative Dr. Coyne has focussed very 
clearly the colonial policy in which the Dollier mission was embedded. Spain 
was reaping golden harvests from her colonial possessions. New France was 
to be similarly explored and developed for the benefit of the mother country. 
To the Church was conceded the privilege of preaching the gospel to the heathen 
and to this concession Jesuit, Sulpician, and Recollet responded—not without a 
certain amount of rivalry as the early documents show. In 1669 the colonial 
program included the exploration of the copper mine of Lake Superior, intended 
as an offset to the possession by Spain of her rich mines in Mexico and Peru. 
Rumours of the great rivers had taken definite shape and it was desirable that 
these unknown waterways should be explored. By them the route to the South 
Sea was to be discovered. The English and Spaniards were to be confined to a 
narrow strip on the Atlantic coast and the rest of North America was to be­
come a French preserve. The Nipissing trade route from Lake Superior was 
considered laborious and costly, and a new way was to be opened to Montreal. 

In the year 1669 Francois Dollier de Casson, a Sulpician priest of the sem­
inary of Montreal, spent a winter in the woods with a Nipissing chief in order 
to learn the Algonquin language. He had long desired to go out among the 
Indian tribes of the west as a missionary of the gospel. The Indian chief had 
a slave who had lived in the west and who offered to act as guide. Dollier, 
at the suggestion of Abbe de Queylus, the Superior of the seminary at Mont­
real, accepted the services of the Indian and made arrangements to undertake 
the journey. He was then only thirty-three years of age and was in the prime 
of physical manhood. Before entering the Church he had distinguished him­
self as a cavalry captain under the great Marshal Turenne. I t was said he 
was so strong that he could carry two men sitting on his hands, yet he was a 
man of gentle birth and courtly and engaging manners. 

Rene de Brehaut de Galinee had similar family traditions. He had also 
received a mathematical training, knew something of map-making, and had 
studied the Algonquin language. He applied to the Superior for leave to accom­
pany the expedition and this was readily granted. 

We have then two ardent Breton missionaries of gentle birth and fine edu­
cation, robust of body and mind, ready to meet all dangers and privations in 
exploring the unknown forests of the west in order to carry to western tribes of 
savages the banner of the Cross. 

La Salle Joins the Expedition 
In the ambition of the priests, Governor Courcelles and Intendant Talon saw 

an opportunity to extend the dominion of New France and to exploit new sources 
of wealth. At Montreal was a young man of twenty-six years named La Salle, 
who had felt thus early the call of the west and was anxious to undertake a jour­
ney of exploration pure and simple. He had been connected with the order of the 
Jesuits in France but had left the priesthood for a secular career. Two years 
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before this he had come to New France. He had obtained a grant of a seigniory 
at Lachine from the seminary of Montreal, and had begun the erection of a forti­
fied village. The situation was favourable for the fur trade and La Salle began 
to build up a fortune. The stories, however, of the great rivers of the west, 
the Mississippi and the Ohio, touched his imagination and he became dissatis­
fied with the role of a mere trader. He decided to sell his property and to go 
out to discover the great river Ohio and to trace its supposed outlet in the Ver­
milion Sea or the Gulf of California, where it was believed the riches of China 
and Japan could be tapped. Governor Courcelles suggested to Dollier and La 
Salle that they should join forces and combine the interests of Church and State. 
The suggestion was accepted and arrangements were made for the journey. 
Thus the united mission had the approval of secular and ecclesiastical authori­
ties, of Governor Courcelles, Intendant Talon and of Abbe de Queylus. Bishop 
Laval also had given it the authority of his name and office. 

Dr. Coyne's Synopsis 
Following closely Dr. Coyne's synopsis of the narrative we learn that the 

adventurers, with the exception of La Salle, who was delayed for a few days, 
left Montreal on July 6 in seven birch-bark canoes with twenty-one men, as 
stated, including a surgeon, a Dutchman as Iroquois interpreter, besides two 
canoes of Senecas, who were to conduct the party. The canoes were twenty 
feet in length and two or three in width. Each was capable of carrying four 
men and between 800 and 900 pounds of baggage, whilst one man could easily 
carry it over a portage. A good birch-bark canoe would last five or six years, 
whilst the Iroquois craft, made of elm-bark, were good only for a month or 
thereabouts. 

They shot in descending, or dragged their canoes through in ascending, the 
less difficult rapids, and carried them around the others. They camped on the 
bare ground, and lived on Indian fare—corn-meal porridge seasoned with cat­
fish, varied as chance offered by a diet of venison or moose. The Indians were 
everywhere hospitable, except when crazed with drink. The brandy trade with 
the Albany Dutch is incidentally mentioned. Pow-wows were held in regular 
form, and the Iroquois hospitality, domestic economy, and tribal ceremonies are 
described. The Frenchmen were unwilling witnesses to horrible tortures in­
flicted by savages upon their prisoners. They visited Jesuit missions among 
the Iroquois and at the Sault, and in their account criticize freely, but 
in courteous and guarded language. Mysterious noises are heard in the forests. 
I t is the tally-ho of King Arthur's huntsmen they hear, and the mystery is 
solved. 

The Journal 
A rock, rudely painted by the savages with human figures, is regarded by 

the ecclesiastics as a demon. It is ruthlessly broken up and sunk in the river, 
and God rewards the daring iconoclasts with an unexpected quarry, which 
enables them to break a long fast. Galinee shared the beliefs of his race and 
age; but he had an eye to the practical. A sulphur spring is visited. The pro­
ductiveness of choice regions is described with enthusiasm. Hunting grounds, 
like the Burford Plains, the coast opposite Long Point and the Rondeau, are 
noted down. The writer was evidently a trained and shrewd observer and 
practised writer. Few journals of travel are more interesting or more instruc­
tive. The simplicity and quaintness of seventeenth century French add 
piquancy and attractiveness to an official report intrinsically valuable. Every­
thing bears the stamp of the cultured Christian, the " gentleman" of the 
seminarv. 
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A Deliberate Journey 
If the expedition was an arduous one, it was certainly deliberate. Thirty-

seven days after leaving Montreal they reached the Seneca village on Bough-
ton Hill, in New York State. Detained there more than a month, they were 
ten days on the way from Irondequoit Bay to the Beverley swamp. More than 
three weeks again elapsed before they arrived at Port Dover, where they built 
a winter cabin and spent more than five months. After leaving the mouth 
of Patterson's Creek in the spring, they were two months, all but a day, in 
reaching the Sault Ste. Marie. With the aid of experienced canoemen they 
made the return journey to Montreal over the well-known Nipissing route in 
three weeks. Altogether, the journey lasted 347 days. 

The Route 
Making their way up the St. Lawrence, they coasted all along the south 

shore of Lake Ontario to Burlington Bay. They were the first Europeans on 
record to enter the Niagara River from Lake Ontario. They heard the roar 
of the cataract, but it was more than nine years later before, according to any 
positive record, La Salle actually saw it. They entered Burlington Bay and 
visited a little Indian village called Tinawatawa, or Tanawawa, in the great 
Beverley swamp, near the site of the present village of Westover. The Senecas 
had formed a small settlement here on account of the extraordinary abundance 
of game, especially bear and deer. I t was here that a remarkable meeting took 
place on September 24, 1669. Jolliet and Marquette had left Montreal before 
the Sulpicians, under orders from the Governor to discover the copper mine on 
Lake Superior, and to find out an easier route of transporting the ore to Mont­
real. Jolliet had not had time to visit the mine, but an Iroquois prisoner, whom 
he had saved from being burned by the Ottawas, had shown him a route to the 
Iroquois country hitherto unknown to the French. I t was down the chain of 
lakes, and Jolliet was the first European to descend them. But his guide became 
apprehensive, as he approached the Iroquois country, of prowling Andastes. 
This tribe lived on the upper waters of the Susquehanna, and carried on a con­
stant warfare with the Iroquois, until the latter destroyed their villages. Yield­
ing to the guide's urgency, Jolliet left his canoe, probably near Port Stanley, 
whence they followed the forest trail to the Grand River, and thence to Tina­
watawa, where they met La Salle and the Sulpicians. Jolliet informed the priests 
that he had sent some of his people to look for a nation called the Pottawatta-
mies, where no missionaries had as yet been. Galinee and Dollier at once became 
eager to go, by way of this new tribe, to the mission they proposed to estab­
lish far down the Ohio, and Jolliet courteously gave them a sketch of the route 
he had followed and explained where he had left the canoe, which was now at 
their disposal. 

La Salle Leaves the Missionaries 
La Salle and the priests were evidently at cross purposes, and he took 

advantage of the opportunity to leave them. An attack of fever furnished him 
a reasonable pretext and they parted company. Jolliet and La Salle went east­
ward. The latter was now free to prosecute the discovery of the Ohio without 
the impediments of a double leadership. The priests wrote Fenelon, a brother 
of the great Fenelon, then carrying on a mission at Kente (Quinte), on Weller's 
Bay, in the northwest end of Prince Edward County, asking him to send " black 
robes " to Tinawatawa. In consequence, Trouve, who was extending the chain 
of Sulpician missions along the north shore of Lake Ontario proceeded to the 
Beverley swamp in November following. Trouve assured Galinee that he had 
heard the noise of Niagara from the neighbourhood of Toronto. Both banks 
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of Lake Ontario had now been explored by members of the Sulpician order, to 
whom the credit is due of having produced the first authoritative map of this 
lake. 

La Salle went east with four canoes. The two priests proceeded to the 
Grand River with three. The canoes would only carry two men each besides 
the baggage, and there were twelve men in the party, the same number as in 
La Salle's. I t was important that Jolliet's canoe should be secured before it 
was discovered by the Indians. Accordingly the Dutchman, who had come 

FORKS OF RIVER LYNN AND BLACK CREEK, PORT DOVER 
The wintering place was a few hundred yards up Black Creek to the right, and 

about one hundred yards therefrom. 

with them as interpreter from Montreal, accompanied by two Shawnees, set out 
on foot with provisions and ammunition, to follow the forest trails to the place 
of the canoe. There they were to await the arrival of the rest of the party]. 
The fate of the three men is unknown. They were never heard of afterward. 
Galinee describes the finding of the canoe by other messengers two or three 
weeks later, and again by the party during the following April. There is some 
ground for the surmise that the missing men deserted to La Salle. 

The priests and the remaining seven men descended the Grand River, six 
in the canoes or dragging them through the shoal water, the others following the 
trail along the bank. Lake Erie seemed to them like a great sea. The wind 
•was strong from the south. There was perhaps no lake in all the country whose 
billows rose so high as Lake Erie, because, as Galinee naively suggests, of its 
great depth and its great extent. 

Wintering on Lake Erie 
They wintered just above the forks where Black Creek joins the River 

Lynn, otherwise known as Patterson's Creek, at Port Dover. The exact spot 
was identified in August, 1900, at a meeting of the Norfolk Historical Society. 
Slight elevations indicate the outlines of the building. Trenches for drainage 
are quite distinct. A slight depression in an embankment shows where the door 
stood, near the little rivulet where they got their water. A cairn, erected and 
unveiled in September, 1924, marks the site. 
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From a photograph of the original proces-verbal obtained from the 
French Archives. 

Indian Visitors 
Iroquois hunters visited them during the winter and admired the structure, 

which was dwelling-house, chapel, granary and fortification all in one. They 
stored their granary with some fifty bushels of walnuts and chestnuts, besides 
apples, plums, grapes, and hackberries. They made wine of the grapes. It was 
as good as vin de Grave, and was used for mass. The rivers were full of fish 
and of beaver. Deef roamed the meadows in herds of a hundred. Bears were 
abundant, fatter and of better flavour than the most savory pigs of France. 
No wonder that the worthy priests are enthusiastic over the country. There is 
assuredly, they say, no more beautiful country in all Canada. 

Their dwelling-place was a beautiful spot on the bank of a rivulet, five-
eighths of a mile inland, sheltered from the wind. They set up a pretty altar 
•at one end of the cabin. There they heard mass three times a week without 
missing a single time. " You may imagine," says Galinee, " the consolation we 
experienced in seeing ourselves with our good God, in the depths of the woods, 
in a land where no European had ever been. Monsieur Dollier often said to us 
that that winter ought to be worth to us, for our eternal welfare, more than the 
best ten years of our life." 

The Lakeside Cross 
On Passion Sunday, March 23, 1670, they all proceeded to the lake shore 

to make and plant a cross. At its foot were placed the arms of the King of 
France, with a formal inscription setting forth how the two Seminary mission­
aries and seven other Frenchmen had been the first of all Europeans to winter 
on the lake, and how they had taken possession of it in the name of King Louis 
XIV, as an unoccupied country, by attaching his arms to the foot of the cross. 
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Three days later they portaged their canoes and packs to the shore, Black 
Creek being still frozen over. Then they sailed across to Turkey Point. A 
strong head-wind prevented them from rounding it. While waiting for the 
wind to moderate, one of their canoes was caught by it, carried away and lost. 
Then, with all the baggage in the two remaining canoes, only two men could 
be carried in each. Five, including the priests, must face the forest trail from 
Turkey Point. Coming to Big Creek, they walked up-stream along its bank 
until the Walsingham swamp checked their laborious journey and forced them 
to follow the stream again to its mouth. Crossing on a raft, in a snow-storm, 
they landed in mud and slush up to midleg, proceeded to the Long Point por-

Wintering Place of Dollier lie Casson and de Galinee near Port Dover, Ontario, showing outlines 
of the buildings, still quite apparent. 

tage, and then to the mouth of a stream, probably Kettle Creek, where they 
found Jolliet's canoe. Then all were able to embark together, to sail to the 
Rondeau. They had been nearly starved since leaving Port Dover. Now they 
found a herd of more than two hundred does. They fired and missed. Another 
herd of twenty or thirty they surrounded and drove into the water. Killing-
ten of the best, they supplied their empty larder. Next day, having sailed 
nearly fifty miles, they camped on Point Pelee. A storm rose in the night from 
the northeast and carried off the packs of one of Dollier's canoes, including the 
altar service and part of their guns, ammunition and provisions. 
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They Return to Montreal 

This disaster put an end to the mission project. All they could do was to 
make the best of their way to Montreal. To turn back would perhaps be 
humiliating. Allured by the prospect of seeing unknown regions, they deter­
mined to go on to the Sault and descend by the Nipissing route with some fleet 
of Ottawa canoes. 

They ascended the Detroit River, destroying on the way a stone idol held 
in veneration by the Indians. They knew it had been the cause of all their 
troubles, and so they took a just revenge upon it. God rewarded them the same 
day with a deer and a bear. 

They found no sign of salt in Sanson's " Lake of the Salt Waters," to which, 
ten years later, Hennepin and La Salle gave the name of Lake Ste. Claire. 
They coasted along the east side of Lake Huron and the south side of Mani-
toulin Island, crossed over to the Mackinac Islands, and then sailed eastward 
along the north shore to St. Mary's River. At the Sault they found Marquette 
and Dablon comfortably established in a fortified mission. Their welcome 
could not have been a very cordial one. After three days they hired a guide to 
take them to Montreal, where they arrived on June 18, after an absence of 
nearly a year. 

It is hardly to be wondered at if they were looked upon as dead men come 
to life again. 

Galinee made a map of the journey for Talon. He explains that he only 
put down what he actually saw. It was the first map of the Upper Lakes at 
first hand. Defective as it is it marks a great advance in the cartography of 
North America. 

Such is the story of the Dollier mission. And now southern Ontario, beaver 
hunting-ground of the painted savage when these pious but brave explorers 
discovered it, is planted with prosperous farms and busy towns and a multitude 
of churches, where, in differing tones and manners it may be, but surely with the 
same intent, the story that meant so much to Dollier and Galinee is told week 
by week, and year by year, the story of the Cross. 
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OTHER HISTORIC SITES IN THE VICINITY 

Port Dover, or the village of Dover as it was then called, was the rallying-
place and point of departure by water of the expedition organized in August, 
1812, by General Isaac Brock for the relief of Amherstburg, which resulted in 
the capitulation of General Hull's army and the surrender of Detroit. This event 
has been commemorated by the erection of a cairn in Powell Park, with a tablet 
which bears the following inscription:— 

WAR OF 1812 

Major General Isaac Brock with 40 men of His Majesty's 41st 
Regiment and 260 of the York, Lincoln, Oxford, and Norfolk 
Militia, set out from Port Dover on the 8th August, 1812, to relieve 
the invaded Western Frontier. 
His brilliant capture of Hull's army at Detroit with a much 
smaller force saved this Province to the Empire and made Brock 

"The Hero of Upper Canada." 

About six miles eastward is the small village of Nanticoke, which in Novem­
ber, 1813, was the scene of a gallant exploit on the part of a party of volunteers 
from the Norfolk militia, which delivered the neighbouring country from the 
depredations of a band of marauders. A tablet affixed to the front wall of the 
public school bears this inscription:—• 

NANTICOKE 

On the 13th November, 1813, Norfolk Volunteer Militia, led by 
Lieut. Colonel Henry Bostwick, routed a band of enemy marauders, 
who had terrorized the country. 
This exploit inspirited the military forces, restored the confidence of 
the people, and was an important factor in the immediate recovery 
of lost ground. 

On the lake shore road nearly eight miles to the westward is the site of the 
Normandale Furnace, for many years a busy hive of industry, which has long 
since disappeared. A tablet has been erected on the outer wall of the Dominion 
Fish Hatchery building, bearing an inscription commemorating the beginning 
of the manufacture of iron in southwestern Ontario:— 

THE NORMANDALE FURNACE 

Founded in 1818 by Samuel Mason. Enlarged and conducted with 
success by Joseph Van Orman, Hiram Capron, and Henry Tillson, 
from 1882 until 1829, when they were joined by Elijah Leonard, 
employing at times two hundred men in the manufacture of agri­
cultural implements, utensils, and stoves. It was operated here until 
the local supply of bog ore was exhausted, about 1853. and was 
an important factor in the early economic and industrial develop­
ment of this country. 



14 

Four miles further west is the site of Fort Norfolk, built in the winter of 
1814-1815, for the protection of a naval base in the Inner Bay of Long Point, 
and the vanished town of Charlotteville, once the capital of an extensive dis­
trict. The tablet there erected upon a cairn bears an inscription which reads as 
follows:— 

FORT NORFOLK 

British military and naval post, 1814-15. 
At Turkey Point below Dollier de Casson and party encamped 26th 
March, 1670. 
General Simcoe, in 1795, selected it as a site for a fort and naval 
station. 
Here stood the town of Charlotteville, capital of the London 
District, 1802-16. 

Reqn. 6317. 
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